# **ORIGINAL**

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 30 1997

| JAMES SCOGGINS,   | )      | CLERK SUBJEMECOURT<br>By Chief Deputy Clerk |
|-------------------|--------|---|
| Petitioner,       | )      |   |
| vs.               | )      | CASE NO.                                    |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, | )<br>) | DCA Case NO. 96-0228                        |
|                   | )      |   |
| Respondent.       | )<br>) |   |

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On a Petition for Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, James Scoggins, was convicted in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, Florida, for possession of cocaine.

The evidence at trial was that the police found crack cocaine in the ashtray of Scoggins' truck after a traffic stop. Scoggins first claimed that the drugs did not belong to him, but after his arrest, on the way to the police station admitted that the drugs were his.

The jury interrupted its deliberations to notify the trial court that it did not have a unanimous verdict and that those in disagreement felt they would not change their minds. Without objection from the prosecutor or defense counsel, the trial court inquired into the jury's numerically split. The jury resumed deliberations the following day and returned a verdict finding Petitioner guilty as charged. *Scoggins v. State*, 22 Fla L. Weekly D 1029, 1029-1030 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 23, 1997) [Appendix 1]. The Fourth District acknowledged conflict with *Rodriguez v. State*, 559 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) [See Appendix 2].

Petitioner timely filed his notice seeking discretionary review on May 21, 1997 [Appendix 3].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court has the authority pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the *Florida* Constitution (1980) to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law.

The instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals finding that the trial court's error of inquiring into the numerical division of the jury after being informed that the jury was at an impasse was not per se reversible, or fundamental, is in direct and express conflict with the decision of the Third District in *Rodriguez v. State*, 559 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). *Rodriguez* holds that such error was fundamental and per se reversible.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OVER THE INSTANT DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT ON THE BASIS OF DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

This Court has the authority pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the *Florida Constitution* (1980) to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law. See *Jenkins v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986).

Petitioner respectfully submits that this Honorable Court has discretionary jurisdiction over the instant cause on the basis of direct and express conflict with the decision of the Third District in *Rodriguez v. State*, 559 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

The Fourth District, in a written opinion rendered on April 23, 1997, *Scoggins v. State*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D 1029 (Fla. 4th DCA April 23, 1997), held that the trial court's inquiry into the numerical division after being informed that the jury was at an impasse was "error", but that "... it must [also] be analyzed under the totality of the circumstances to determine if the jury was coerced into returning a verdict." Id. The District Court held that the error was not per se reversible error, and acknowledged the conflicting opinion of *Rodriguez v. State*, 559 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) which adopted the United States Supreme Court holding in *Brasfield v. United States*, 272 U.S. 448, 47 S. Ct. 135, 71 L. Ed. 345 (1926), that found such error was fundamental and per se reversible. Id. at 1030. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the Fourth District found no fundamental or constitutional error. *Id.* at 1030-1031.

The district court acknowledged the Third District's holding in *Rodriguez v. State*, 559 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), as a "more extreme view" which adopted the rule of the United States Supreme Court in *Brasfield, supra.*. *Scoggins*, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at 1030.

#### Brasfield held:

We deem it essential to the fair and impartial conduct of the trial, that the inquiry itself should be regarded as ground for reversal. Such procedure serves no useful purpose that cannot be attained by questions not requiring the jury to reveal the nature or extent of its division. Its effect upon a divided jury will often depend upon circumstances which cannot properly be known to the trial judge or the appellate courts and may vary widely in different situations, but in general its tendency is coercive. It can rarely be resorted to without bringing to bear in some degree, serious although not measurable, an improper influence upon the jury, from whose deliberations every consideration other than that of the evidence and law as expounded in a proper charge, should be excluded. Such a practice, which is never useful and is generally harmful, is not to be sanctioned.

Rodriguez, 559 So. 2d at 679 (quoting Brasfield, 272 U. S. at 450, 47 S. Ct. at 135-36).

Thus, *Rodriguez* also found such error was "fundamental" and reversible without regard to the totality of the circumstance test, since those "circumstances... cannot properly be known to the trial judge or the appellate courts ..." <u>Id</u>.

Under *Rodriguez* and *Brasfield*, it is important that this Honorable Court take the instant cause because the Fourth District's misapplication of Petitioner's right to a fair and impartial jury free from improper influence or coercion deprives citizens of their basic rights to fairness and due process under Article I, Sections 11 and 16 of the Florida Constitution and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United State's Constitution.

Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to accept jurisdiction over the instant cause and vacate the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal after hearing argument on the merits.

### **CONCLUSION**

Petitioner requests this Court to accept jurisdiction to review the merits of this case.