IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

CASE NO.

DCA CASE NO. 96-0228

REME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES SCOGGINS

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ETTIE FEISTMANN

Assistant Attorney General florida Bar No. 892930 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299

Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner was the appellant in the appeal proceedings and the defendant at trial in the circuit court of the 17th Judicial Circuit. The respondent, State of Florida, was the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. The following symbols will be used: "A" Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State adopts the majority opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal as its statement of the Case and Facts (A1).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The discretionary jurisdiction of this Court should be declined under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of the State of Florida and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. The facts are distinguishable, and therefore the conclusion of law is different.

Further, the Fourth District disagreed with the implication of the opinion of another district court of appeal, and not with its express holding.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PETITIONER IMPROPERLY INVOKES THE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT WHERE THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME OUESTION OF LAW.

Petitioner contends that the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Scoggins v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1029 (Fla. April 23, 1997), expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Rodriguez v. State, 559 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (A2). The State disagrees and submits that there is significant factual differences between the cases which leads to a different reasoning and conclusion of law, and thus this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

In order for two decisions to be in "express" as well as a "direct" conflict for the purpose of invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), the decisions should speak to the same point of law, in factual contexts of sufficient similarity to compel the conclusion that the result in each case would have been different had the deciding court employed the reasoning of the other court. See generally Mancini v. State, 312

So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1975); Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, § 2.10("a district court of appeal decision is reviewable only if it expressly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal. It is not enough to show that the district court decision is effectively in conflict with other appellate decision" [e.s.]).

In <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980), this Court defined the limited parameters of its conflict review as follows:

This Court may only reviews a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of The dictionary definitions of the terms "express" include: "to represent in words; give expression to "Expressly" is defined: "in an express manner." Webster's Third New Dictionary International (1961 ed. unabr.) (Emphasis in original).

See also Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986). See generally Withlacoochee River Electric Co-op v. Tampa Electric Co., 158 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1963); Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958). Also, although it is not necessary that the district court of appeal explicitly identify a conflict in its opinion, the district court must at least address the legal principals which

were applied as a basis for the decision. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, § 2.10. While a district court cannot thoroughly misapply a precedent of another court and then escape conflict certiorari review of its decision, see Gibson v. Avis Rent-a Car System, 386 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1980) and Ascensio v. State, 497 So. 2d 640, 641 (Fla. 1986), this is not what happened here.

A review of the majority opinion is quite important as this Court has stated that "conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority opinion." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 n. 3("...we are not permitted to base our conflict jurisdiction on a review of the record.... Thus, it is pointless and misleading to include a comprehensive recitation of facts not appearing in the decision below, with citation to the record, as petitioner provided here.").

By his argument, Petitioner implicitly contends that the Fourth District applied a rule of law which produced a different and conflicting conclusion to substantially same controlling facts involved in the allegedly conflicting decision. The State disagrees and contends that the facts in this case are distinguishable from the facts in Rodriguez and therefore application of the same rule of law resulted in a different

conclusion.

Here, the Fourth District was well aware of the decision in Rodriquez. The Scoggins Court specifically addressed Rodriguez in its opinion, and factually distinguished this case from the Rodriguez and other similar cases. First, in Rodriguez, although out the presence of the jury, the trial judge "expressed exasperation before asking the jury for its numerical split. 559 So. 2d at 679.1 In contrast here, the judge asked both counsel if they objected to his asking the jury for its numerical split. And only after neither objected, the court asked for the numerical split, but reminded the jury that he would reset the deliberations for the following day. 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1029-D1030. The jury asked to come back the following day to continue deliberating. Id. The jury was excused for the evening. Unlike in Rodriguez, here there was no evidence of exasperation before the contact with the jury.

Next, in <u>Rodriguez</u> the jury came back fifteen minutes after the trial judge asked for the numerical split with the verdict of guilty. In contrast here, the jury was not placed under time

¹The opinion does not specify whether the trial judge asked counsel's permission to inquire about the jury's numerical split. It appears that the judge did not ask permission to do so.

pressure to return a verdict. The jury did not come back shortly after their contact with the judge. Thus, the facts of <u>Rodriguez</u> and <u>Scoggins</u> are certainly distinguishable.

Further, the Fourth District disagreed only with the implication in Rodriguez that such questioning is per se reversible error. There was no express holding in Rodriguez that it is per se reversible error. As such, the Third District's conclusion is based only on the particular facts in Rodriguez. The disagreement with an implication of an opinion would not satisfy the requirement of direct and express conflict.

Because the factual context is substantially different in the two cases, the conclusion resulted in each case is dissimilar. Therefore, no direct and express conflict exists. As stated by Judge Anstead: "Obviously two cases cannot be in conflict if they can be validly distinguished." Morningstar v. State, 405 So. 2d 778, 783 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), Anstead J., Concurring, affirmed, 428 So. 2d 220 (Fla. 1982). See Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counseling Services. Inc., 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986) ("inherent or so called 'implied' conflict may no longer serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction.")

The <u>Nielson v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960) this Court stated that:

When our jurisdiction is invoked pursuant to this provision of the Constitution we are not permitted the judicial luxury of upsetting a decision of a Court of Appeal merely because we might personally disagree with the so-called "justice of the case" as announced by the Court below. In order to assert our power to set aside the decision of the Court of Appeal on the conflict theory we must find in that decision a real, live and vital conflict within the limits above announced.

Nielson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d at 734-735. The State contends that no such real, live and vital conflict exists. Here, the facts are substantially distinguishable, and thus the district courts arrived at different conclusions.

The Nielson Court also stressed that

We do not here suggest that if we had been charged with the responsibility of the Court of Appeal in the instant case would have arrived at the conclusion which they reached. In fact. it is altogether possible that we might have arrived at an entirely different conclusion.... (citation omitted). a difference of view, however, is not the measure of our appellate jurisdiction to review decisions of Court of Appeal because of alleged conflicts with prior decisions of this Court on the same point of law. (Emphasis added).

Nielson v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d at 734.

Thus, because petitioner's did not show that the Rodriguez

case directly and expressly conflicts with the Fourth District Scoggins opinion, jurisdiction of this Court should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based of the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to deny jurisdiction.